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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,       
                     Plaintiff,          
                                        
 v.        No. 19-03048-01/02-CR-S-BCW 

                                   
BONTIEA B. GOSS, 
TOMMY R. GOSS, 
                   Defendants.    
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

DEFENDANTS’ OBJECTIONS TO REPORT AND 
RECOMMENDATION (DOC. 195) CONCERNING THEIR MOTION TO 
DISMISS THE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT FUND (GIF) RELATED 

BRIBERY CHARGES 
(DOCS. 102, 124, 138) 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Bontiea Goss and Tom Goss ask this Court to deny the magistrate 

judge’s Report and Recommendations (Doc. 195)(“Report”) concerning their 

Motion to Dismiss the General Improvement Fund (GIF) Related Bribery 

Charges. (Doc. 102).  

BACKGROUND 

The second superseding indictment contains 12 counts that involve 

General Improvement Funds (“GIF”). Count 1 charges a conspiracy to violate 

18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2) (“federal-funds bribery”), as well as §§ 1343 and 1346 

(“honest-services wire fraud”). (Doc. 65 at 19). Count 5 alleges substantive 

federal-funds bribery, asserting Tom paid Arkansas State Representative 
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Henry Wilkins IV to reward him for directing GIF to the Nonprofit.1 (Id. at 

83.) Count 6 charges federal-funds bribery, alleging that Bontiea and Tom 

agreed to hire a person to reward Arkansas State Senator Jonathan Woods 

for directing GIF to the Nonprofit. (Id. at 84.) And Counts 8-12, 16, 17, 21, 

and 22 all charge honest-services wire fraud related to those GIF awards. Id. 

at 86-88.  

Arkansas GIF 

Historically, when the state of Arkansas ran a surplus, it put the excess 

funds into general- improvement funds or GIF. The Arkansas Legislature 

typically distributed GIF in two ways. First, it sent GIF to various economic-

development districts throughout the state. These districts are not 

governmental agencies. They are nonprofit companies with their own staff 

and boards of directors. To receive GIF, the districts applied to the Arkansas 

Department of Finance and Administration. In those applications, the 

districts made certain promises about how they would distribute any GIF 

they received. If it approved a district’s application, the Department wired 

money from the State of Arkansas’s bank account to the district’s bank 

account. The district then awarded the GIF as it saw fit, constrained only by 

the promises in its application.  

 
1 During the events cited, the organization was known as Alternative Opportunities, before 
it merged with another company and adopted the name Preferred Family Health, Inc. For 
brevity’s sake, this pleading refers to both entities as “the Nonprofit.” 
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 The second way the Legislature typically distributed GIF was to state-

government agencies within the executive branch. For instance, an act might 

appropriate money to the Arkansas Department of Human Services (“ADHS”) 

to treat substance-abuse disorders. ADHS then decided how to spend the 

GIF. If it chose to allocate the money for grants to private substance-abuse 

providers, the agency would decide which applicants would receive a grant. 

And for how much.  

No matter if a district or an agency distributed it, individual legislators 

lacked any legal authority to decide who ultimately received GIF or how 

much they received. Like anyone else, the legislators could support 

applications; nothing more. The authority to choose which applicants received 

funds from GIF, and how much they received, rested with the district or 

agency tasked with allocating the funds. 

The allegations 

The indictment accuses Tom and Bontiea of several offenses related to 

three specific GIF grants: the Act 791 grant, the Act 818 grant, and the 

Ameriworks grant.  

Acts 791 & 818  

The government alleges that Arkansas legislators John Woods, Hank 

Wilkins, and Jeremy Hutchinson were agents of the Arkansas state 

government who “steered” GIF to the Nonprofit through ADHS, a state-
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government agency. (Doc. 65 at 11-12). This was done, the government 

claims, through Acts 791 and 818. (Id. at 56). Those Acts transferred money 

from Arkansas GIF to the Drug Abuse and Treatment Fund, and from that 

fund to a subdivision of ADHS ¾ the Division of Behavioral Health ¾ for 

behavioral-health services. (Id. at 56-57).  

Once ADHS had the funds, it asked private organizations that provided 

behavioral-health services to apply for grants out of the funds. (Doc. 65 at 56-

57, 63-64). The Nonprofit applied for a $1m grant out of Act 791 and a 

$200,000 grant out of Act 818. ADHS decided to award the $1m grant from 

Act 791 to the Nonprofit, but only $122,564.93 out of the $200,000 the 

Nonprofit requested from Act 818. The indictment does not allege that 

Woods, Wilkins, or Hutchinson could decide whether the Nonprofit would 

receive these grants from ADHS or how much it would receive. Instead, it 

recounts that the legislators¾“in their official capacities”¾sent letters to 

ADHS supporting the Nonprofit’s applications. (Id. at 57).  

Ameriworks  

The second way that legislators allegedly influenced and supported the 

award of GIF funds to the Nonprofit, according to the indictment, was 

through the Northwest Arkansas Economic Development District 

(“NWAEDD”). (Doc. 65 at 57–61). The 2013 Arkansas Legislature approved 

funds to be distributed to all of Arkansas’s economic-development districts. 
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After NWAEDD applied for its portion of the funds and the Department 

approved that application, it deposited the funds in NWAEDD’s bank 

account. NWAEDD then solicited applications for grants out of those funds. 

Ameriworks, a company incorporated by Milton “Rusty” Cranford as a public-

private partnership to give job training and employment to disabled veterans, 

applied for a $400,000 grant to fund part of its start-up costs. See id. at 60. 

Woods and Micah Neal emailed the NWAEDD’s executive director supporting 

that application. See id. at 60–61. NWAEDD’s board of directors later 

approved it. Id. at 61.2  

ARGUMENTS & AUTHORITIES 

 Parties may ask a district-court judge to take a fresh look at any issue 

decided by a magistrate judge. The moving party must file an objection, 

specifying the portions of the report and recommendations it disagrees with. 

28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1). After a party files those objections, a district-court 

judge must “make a de novo determination” of the objected-to conclusions. Id. 

The district-court judge may then “accept, reject, or modify the 

recommendation…or resubmit the matter to the magistrate judge with 

instructions.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 59(b)(3). 

 
2 Because NWAEDD lacked documentation that Ameriworks was a registered nonprofit, 
NWAEDD made the checks out to Decision Point d/b/a Ameriworks. Id. Decision Point was 
a subsidiary of the Nonprofit. 
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 Here, Tom and Bontiea ask the Court to reject the Report, objecting to 

these conclusions: 

• The indictment properly charges a conspiracy to commit federal-funds 

bribery, as well as substantive counts of that offense, by alleging things 

were given or offered to agents of a government that was not a party to 

a transaction but was somehow involved in it. (Doc. 195 at 10). This 

conclusion is wrong because the federal-funds bribery statute requires 

that government to be a party to the transaction, not just involved in it. 

• The indictment properly charges conspiracy to commit federal-funds 

bribery and honest-services wire fraud, as well as substantive counts of 

both offenses, because it alleges things of value were offered or given in 

exchange for official acts. (Doc. 195 at 11-12). This conclusion is wrong 

because the indictment alleges things were offered or given to 

legislators in return for the Nonprofit actually receiving GIF grants, 

which the legislators were powerless to award. 

• The indictment properly charges conspiracy to commit honest-services 

wire fraud, along with substantive counts of that offense, because it 

alleges a quid pro quo where legislators agreed to take action beneficial 

to the Nonprofit. (Doc. 195 at 14-15). This conclusion is wrong because, 

after the Supreme Court’s opinion in McDonnell, a quid pro quo 
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requires the parties to identify the specific question or matter that the 

legislator will influence. 

I. The Report errs by holding a state government’s mere 
“involvement” in a series of transactions satisfies the statute, 
contrary to the statute’s text. 

 The United States charges Tom and Bontiea with conspiring to violate 

18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2).  

Whoever…corruptly gives, offers, or agrees to give anything of 
value to any person, with intent to influence or reward an agent of 
an organization or of a State, local or Indian tribal government, or 
any agency thereof, in connection with any business, transaction, 
or series of transactions of such organization, government, or 
agency involving anything of value of $5,000 or more[] shall be 
fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both. 

18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2). The statute mentions three types of entities: 

(1) organizations, (2) governments, and (3) agencies. Congress showed its 

intent for courts to treat these entities separately by not only listing them 

distinctly in the statute, but also giving the entities their own definitions. A 

“State” government means the government of “a State within the United 

States,” as well as various territories. 18 U.S.C. § 666(d)(4). An “agency” 

means “a subdivision of the executive, legislative, or judicial, or other branch 

of government…or other legal entity established, and subject to control, by a 

government” to “execut[e]” a governmental program. 18 U.S.C. § 666(d)(2).  
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The indictment alleges that Tom and Bontiea conspired to, and did, 

give things of value to influence Arkansas state legislators, who were agents 

of the state of Arkansas, in connection with transactions of the state of 

Arkansas. (E.g., Doc. 65 at 19). Among those transactions, the indictment 

alleges, was the award of GIF grants to the Nonprofit. (Id. at 20). According 

to the indictment, Tom and Bontiea gave things of value to influence or 

reward Arkansas legislators in return for those legislators “influencing and 

supporting,” “influencing and facilitating,” “steering,” and “directing” GIF to 

the Nonprofit. (See id. at 25, 45, 46, 83-84, respectively). 

Tom and Bontiea moved to dismiss the counts relying on the GIF 

allegations. (Doc. 102). They pointed out that the state government of 

Arkansas did not award GIF grants to the Nonprofit, rather, a state-

government agency (ADHS) and not-for-profit corporation (NWAEDD) did. 

This distinction matters because Section 666 distinguishes between 

transactions “of” a state government, a state-government agency, and a not-

for-profit corporation. If the legislators were agents of the state government, 

but the state government wasn’t a party to the transactions (i.e., the GIF 

grants), then the indictment fails to allege the Gosses intended to influence 

an agent of the entity conducting the transactions. And that means the 

indictment does not charge a violation of Section 666 in Counts 5, 6, and 7 or 

Count 1’s conspiracy charge. 
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 The Government responded with several arguments. First, it claimed 

that — despite the statute’s text — the Eighth Circuit Model Jury Instruction 

did not explicitly require the to-be-influenced person be an agent of the 

transacting entity. (See Doc. 124 at n.10). It then admitted that the state of 

Arkansas was not a party to the transactions that awarded GIF grants to the 

Nonprofit. Rather, the parties were ADHS and the Nonprofit (Acts 791 & 818 

grants) and NWAEDD and the Nonprofit (Ameriworks grant). (Id. at 7-9). 

Even while admitting the state government was not a party to the 

transactions, the Government insisted the indictment charged a Section 

666(a)(2) violation. (Id. at 9-10). It claimed the GIF grants “were initiated 

with, and wholly funded by,” funds from the state government ¾ words that 

do not appear in the statute and which no court has ever interpreted its text 

to mean ¾ and that was sufficient to charge a violation. (See id. at 9-10). 

The Report agrees with Tom and Bontiea’s first argument: the statute 

requires an “intent to influence or reward an agent of the entity in connection 

with any business, transaction, or series of transactions of that entity… .” 

(Doc. 195 at 8) (original emphasis). Tom and Bontiea do not object to that 

conclusion. They object to the Government’s second argument and the 

Report’s seeming adoption of it. The word “seeming” is appropriate because 

the Report never explicitly states that it adopts the Government’s argument 

but appears to parrot its logic.  
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While the Report steers clear of using the Government’s verbiage, it 

essentially holds that Section 666(a)(2) only requires the state government to 

be “involved” in the series of transactions that ended with the Nonprofit 

receiving GIF grants. E.g., Doc. 195 at 8. Of course, saying an entity was 

“involved” in transactions is not the same thing as saying the entity was a 

“party to” them. The result is that the Report stretches Section 666 even 

further than the Government asked. 

A. To charge a violation of Section 666(a)(2), the indictment must 
allege the Gosses intended to influence legislators in connection 
with the state of Arkansas’ transactions. 

Begin with the statute’s text. It prohibits attempting to influence or 

reward an agent of an organization, state government, or agency “in 

connection with any business, transaction, or series of transactions of such” 

organization, state government, or agency. 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2) (emphasis 

added). Thus, whether a single transaction or a series of transactions, the 

transaction or series must still be “of” the organization, state government, or 

agency. See, e.g., Facebook, Inc. v. Duguid, --- U.S. ---, 141 S.Ct. 1163, 1169 

(2021)(“When there is a straightforward, parallel construction that involves 

all nouns or verbs in a series, a modifier at the end of the list normally 

applies to the entire series.”); see also A. Scalia & B. Garner, READING LAW: 

THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXTS 147-151 (2012)(same). So the phrase 
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“of such organization, government, or agency” modifies each of the nouns in 

the series “business, transaction, or series of transactions.” 

 And it modifies those nouns in a particular way: to show that the 

“business, transaction, or series” must belong to the “organization, 

government, or agency.” This “ordinary English usage[]” is how courts 

traditionally construe statutes. Flores-Figueroa v. United States, 556 U.S. 

646, 652 (2009). To say one noun (“car”) is “of” another noun (“Tom”) means 

the first noun belongs to the second noun (“the car of Tom,” or “Tom’s car”). 

The “of” phrase narrows down the class of nouns it modifies, e.g., among all 

cars in existence, “of Tom” narrows the reference to one car: Tom’s.  

The Eighth Circuit interpreted a similar phrase, coming to the same 

conclusion, in 2009. Solis v. Summit Contractors, Inc., 558 F.3d 815, 824 (8th 

Cir. 2009). Construing an “of” phrase, the court first noted that “the 

preposition ‘of’ serves to link the objects” of a sentence “to another word in the 

sentence to show the relationship between them.” Id. (quoting Chicago 

Manual of Style, 187 § 5.162 (15th ed. 2003)). It found that “of” phrase acted 

as a limiting adjective, narrowing the modified nouns to only those defined by 

the “of” phrase. See Solis at 824.  

 The same grammatical analysis applies here. The term “of such 

organization, government, or agency” is a prepositional phrase serving as a 

limiting adjective, narrowing the nouns “business, transaction, or series of 
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transactions.” So Section 666(a)(2) does not deal with every business, 

transaction, or series of transactions; the “of” phrase limits it to those that 

belong to an organization, government, or agency.  

Here, the indictment identifies the “organization, government, or 

agency” as “the state of Arkansas.” See Doc. 195 at 8. Thus only the 

“business, transaction[s], or series of transactions” of that state government 

(Arkansas) are at issue. And the Report found the indictment alleged an 

intent to influence in connection with “a series of transactions… .” Id. So the 

indictment must allege an intent to reward or influence an agent of the state 

of Arkansas in connection with a series of transactions of the state of 

Arkansas. 

B. The Report finds that the state of Arkansas was only “involved” 
with the transactions, not that it was a party to those 
transactions. 

The Report begins by miscasting the Defendants’ argument. It words 

their contention as saying the legislators were not agents of the entity 

“involved in the business, transaction, or series of transactions with [the 

Nonprofit].” (Doc. 195 at 7) (emphasis added). This was not the Defendants’ 

argument.3 Rather, they argued that for a transaction to be of the state of 

 
3 The Defendants used the word “involve” only twice in their original motion, neither time 
using it as the Report portrays it. (Doc. 102 at 7, 29) (page citations are to the ECF-stamped 
page number). And the same in their reply. (Doc. 138 at 6, 20).  
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Arkansas, the state of Arkansas had to be a party to that transaction; since 

the state of Arkansas was not a party to those GIF-grant transactions, the 

indictment failed to allege a violation of Section 666. (See Doc. 102 at 18-24). 

After misstating the argument, the Report knocks it down. The 

legislators were agents of “the state government involved in connection with 

series of transactions involving GIF funds awarded to” the Nonprofit. (Doc. 

195 at 8) (emphasis added). The Report “concludes that the indictment 

sufficiently alleges” a violation of Section 666 by asserting the Defendants 

“intended to influence and reward Arkansas state legislators…as agents of 

the state of Arkansas in connection with a series of transactions involving 

Arkansas’ GIF funds.” (Doc. 195 at 10) (original italics, added boldface).  

This semantic difference matters. Whether a transaction “involves” an 

entity is a different question than whether a transaction is “of” that entity. 

The term “involves” allows for looser connection between the entity and the 

transaction, while the statute’s “of” requires a tighter fit. For example, a 

mortgage company may be “involved” in the sale of a home between two 

private parties by loaning the buyer funds to purchase the home. But the 

mortgage company is not a party to the transaction between the buyer and 

seller; that transaction is not “of” the mortgage company.4  

 
4 Though the mortgage company is certainly a party to a related transaction: the loan 
transaction between itself and the home buyer. 
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If nothing else, the rule of lenity compels the narrower construction — 

one that does not use the broader interpretation the Report gives the statute 

here. That rule “generally requires” courts to resolve “ambiguity in a 

criminal” law “in favor of” the accused. United States v. Warren, 149 F.3d 

825, 828 (8th Cir. 1998). If this Court finds the language of Section 666 

ambiguous, e.g., that it could be read to require an entity be a party to a 

transaction or merely involved in the transaction, then lenity suggests this 

Court should resolve it in favor of the Defendants and adopt the former 

reading.  

Beyond lenity, the Report’s construction of Section 666 poses vagueness 

problems. The phrase “involved in” is inherently ambiguous, eluding any 

objective assessment. This elastic terminology, absent from the statute’s text, 

fails to give people fair notice of what constitutes a Section 666 violation and 

encourages arbitrary enforcement. See Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 

(1983). And this possibility is enough to trigger the constitutional-doubt 

canon. Because the Report’s “involved in” interpretation risks the statute’s 

constitutionality, that canon suggests finding against that interpretation. See 

United States ex. rel Att’y Gen. v. Del. & Hudson Co., 213 U.S. 366, 408 

(1909)(If a statute can be construed in two ways, one raising “grave and 

doubtful constitutional questions” while the other avoids them, a court’s 

“duty is to adopt the latter.”).    
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 The Report’s statutory interpretation violates another interpretive 

canon: the rule against surplusage. It is a “settled rule that we must, if 

possible, construe a statute to give every word some operative effect.” Cooper 

Indus., Inc. v. Aviall Servs, Inc., 543 U.S. 157, 167 (2004)(citation omitted). 

According to the Report’s logic, any state government will be “involved” in 

every transaction of one of its subdivision agencies. If this kind of mere 

involvement were enough to make every agency transaction “of” its parent 

government, then the term “agency” would serve no purpose in Section 666; 

every agency transaction would also be a state-government transaction. But 

that interpretation would read the term “agency” and its definition right out 

of the statute ¾ a result that courts should avoid if they can.  

 This Court can. To properly charge a violation of Section 666(a)(2), an 

indictment must allege an intent to influence or reward a person, who’s an 

agent of an entity, in connection with a transaction of that entity. Here, the 

indictment alleges an intent to influence or reward legislators, who were 

agents of a state government, in connection with transactions of different 

entities: an agency and an organization. Since the indictment fails to allege 

the legislators were agents of the agency or organization conducting those 

transactions, it fails charge a violation of Section 666 or a conspiracy to 

violate it. 
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II. The Report erroneously concludes that expressing support 
qualifies as an “official act.” 

Allegations about GIF grants make up two parts of Count 1 (conspiracy 

to commit honest-services wire fraud and conspiracy to commit federal-funds 

bribery), and substantive Counts 5-12, 16, 17, 21, and 22. Tom and Bontiea 

moved to dismiss those counts because the indictment failed to allege that 

they had bribed legislators to take “official action,” required under both the 

federal-funds-bribery and honest-services wire-fraud statutes. (Doc. 102 at 

25-28, 32-39). The Government responded that the indictment did allege 

bribes in exchange for official action, pointing to language accusing the 

Gosses of giving things of value in exchange for the legislators’ votes and 

sponsorship of legislation appropriating funds to ADHS, and that some of 

those funds ended up going to the Nonprofit in the form of a grant. (Doc. 124 

at 17-18).  

The Report adopts the Government’s argument. It “concludes that the 

indictment sufficiently details instances where Arkansas legislators took 

‘official action’ to direct GIF Funds (sic) to Defendants, beyond merely 

‘expressing support.’” (Doc. 195 at 11).5 The Report points to the indictment’s 

language that the Defendants gave things of value in exchange for the 

legislators “influencing and supporting the award of GIF funds,” as well as 

 
5 Contrary to the Report’s conclusion, the indictment does not allege that legislators 
directed GIF to Tom or Bontiea ¾ but to the Nonprofit. 
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the allegations that a legislator “sponsored” a bill appropriating “$2 million of 

GIF” to “ADHS” and that legislators “voted in favor of” that bill. Id.  

A. An “official act” is a formal exercise of governmental power. 

To define an honest-services wire fraud’s bribery scheme, most parties 

borrow the federal definition of bribery. It prohibits giving something to a 

public official “to influence any official act[.]” 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(1)(A). While 

the federal-funds bribery statute has no official-act requirement, the Report 

assumes that it does. (Doc. 195 at 11).  

Not every act by an official is an “official act.” The bribery statute 

defines an “official act” as a “decision or action on any question, matter, 

cause, suit, proceeding or controversy, which may at any time be pending, or 

which may be brought by law before any public official, in such official’s 

official capacity, or in such official’s place of trust of profit.” The Supreme 

Court interpreted this definition to hold that an official act must involve “a 

formal exercise of governmental power” like “a lawsuit before a court, a 

determination before an agency, or a hearing before a committee.” McDonnell 

v. United States, 579 U.S. 550, 574 (2016). The Court also explained which 

acts are not official acts: “Simply expressing support for” a matter “at a 

meeting, event, or call . . . does not qualify as a decision or action” on the 

matter. Id. at 573. Similarly, neither “calling an official” nor “expressing 

support” for an action during that call constitute an official act. Id.  
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In other words, concrete actions ¾ like voting or sponsoring ¾ may 

constitute “official acts” because those acts require a formal exercise of 

governmental authority. On the other hand, merely expressing support for an 

action, without formal authority to influence that action, is not an official act. 

B. The Report erroneously concludes that “influencing and 
supporting” is a formal exercise of governmental power. 

The Report dealt with this issue in one sentence: it quoted the 

indictment’s language alleging Tom and Bontiea gave things of value in 

exchange for the legislators’ “influencing and supporting the award of GIF 

funds.” (Doc. 195 at 11 (quoting Doc. 65 at 25)). It did not explain how 

“influencing and supporting” are a “formal exercise of governmental power” 

required for an official act.  

Nor could it. Aside from the sponsoring-and-voting allegations 

(discussed below), the indictment alleges the legislators supported the 

Nonprofit’s GIF-grant applications to the agency (ADHS) and not-for-profit 

corporation (NWAEDD) that were evaluating them. (See Doc. 102 at 27-28). 

For instance, the indictment claims the legislators wrote letters to ADHS in 

support of the Nonprofit’s applications. (Doc. 65 at 56, 64). It fails to allege 

the legislators had the formal power to vote on, much less approve, those 

applications. Yet that is the kind of allegation necessary to elevate mere 

“influencing and supporting” to an official act.  
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C. The Report erroneously concludes that the indictment alleges 
the Gosses gave things of value in exchange for votes on generic 
appropriation bills. 

The Report points to one other type of allegation to justify its 

conclusion. It quotes a portion of the indictment accusing the Gosses of giving 

something of value to a legislator in return for that legislator “sponsor[ing]” a 

bill that “appropriated” GIF to ADHS, and alleging the other legislators 

“voted in favor of the bill . . . . (Doc. 195 at 11-12) (quoting Doc. 65; quotation 

marks omitted). Under different circumstances, that conclusion would be 

correct. After all, sponsoring and voting on legislation are formal exercises of 

governmental power. But here the conclusion is flawed for two reasons: (1) 

the “voting and sponsoring” occurred before any legislator was allegedly given 

or promised something of value, and (2) the indictment does not allege things 

of value were exchanged in return for “sponsoring and voting” on GIF. 

1. According to the indictment, the legislators were not promised or 
given things of value until after they had sponsored on or voted 
for legislation giving GIF to ADHS or NWAEDD. 

While “voting on” or “sponsoring” legislation qualifies as an official act, 

the indictment does not allege things of value were promised or given to the 

legislators in exchange for their votes or sponsorship of the generic GIF-

appropriation bills. According to the indictment, the last vote on a GIF-

appropriation bill happened on April 23, 2013. (Doc. 65 at 64). Yet also 

according to the indictment, the “things of value” were not given or promised 
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until months later. Woods sponsored a GIF-appropriation bill in February 

2013 and voted on GIF-appropriation bills in March 2013. (Id. at 56, 64). But 

he never received anything of value (baseball tickets) or a promise of a thing 

of value (hiring Person 14) until October 2013. (Id. at 45). Hutchinson voted 

for GIF-appropriation legislation in March 2013 (id. at 56, 64), but did not 

receive a thing of value until April 2013 (id. at 48). Wilkins voted for GIF-

appropriation bills in March and April 2013 (id. at 64), but received nothing 

of value until December 2013 (id. at 65).  

To show that a thing of value was promised or given to an official in 

exchange for an official act, the alleged offer or gift must occur before the 

official performed that act. The indictment alleges the opposite, so it fails to 

allege federal-funds bribery or honest-services wire fraud.  

2. The indictment alleges the Gosses gave things of value in exchange 
for the Nonprofit receiving GIF; not that they gave things of value 
in exchange for sponsoring on or voting for generic appropriations 
bills dealing with GIF. 

The other flaw in the Report’s conclusion is concluding that the 

indictment alleged the Gosses gave or agreed to give things of value in 

exchange for the legislators’ sponsoring or voting on GIF-appropriating 

legislation. That conclusion is wrong because the indictment accuses them of 

something different: agreeing and giving in exchange for the Nonprofit’s 

receiving GIF grants. It claims the Gosses gave and agreed to give things in 
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exchange for the legislators “influencing and supporting the award of GIF” to 

the Nonprofit. (Doc. 65 at 25). Its allegations repeatedly make this point ¾ 

that the exchange was for the Nonprofit to acquire the GIF grants by the 

legislators 

• “influencing and facilitating the granting of GIF funds” to the Nonprofit 

(id. at 45); 

• “steering” “the GIF money” “to [the Nonprofit]” (id. at 46); 

• “supporting the award of GIF funds” to the Nonprofit (id. at 47); and 

• “directing GIF monies” to the Nonprofit (id. at 83, 84). 

Put simply, the indictment does not allege that things were given or offered 

in exchange only for the legislators’ “voting on” or “sponsoring” the generic 

appropriations bills that included GIF.  

Rather, it alleges gifts or offers in exchange for the Nonprofit getting 

the money. If the legislators’ sponsorship or vote was all that was required to 

put that money in the Nonprofit’s pockets, e.g., the legislation identified the 

Nonprofit as the recipient of the appropriated funds, the Government might 

have an argument. But that’s not what happened. As the indictment says, 

and the Government concedes, the “award of GIF’ to the Nonprofit did not 

come from the legislators ¾ it came from ADHS and NWAEDD. (See Doc. 

124 at 7-8). Put another way, the legislators’ mere sponsorship and voting on 
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GIF-appropriations bills, standing alone, did not deliver the funds to the 

Nonprofit. Only ADHS and the NWAEDD could do that.  

To charge federal-funds bribery and honest-services wire fraud, an 

indictment must allege a gift or offer in exchange for an official act, like 

voting on or sponsoring a bill. Here, the GIF allegations do not say that the 

Defendants gave or offered anything in exchange for a legislator’s vote or 

sponsorship of a GIF-appropriating bill; they claim things were given or 

offered in exchange for “directing” or “influencing” GIF grants to the 

Nonprofit. So the indictment fails to allege something given or offered in 

exchange for an “official act,” which means its GIF allegations fail to charge 

federal-funds bribery or honest-services wire fraud. 

III. While the Report follows binding Eighth Circuit precedent to 
hold Section 666 does not require evidence of a quid pro quo, 
that precedent is incorrect. 

 The Gosses acknowledge that Eighth Circuit precedent holds that an 

indictment need not allege a quid pro quo to charge federal-funds bribery 

under Section 666. (See Doc. 102 at 29) (citing United States v. Zimmerman, 

509 F.3d 920, 927 (8th Cir. 2007). But it is not a settled question among all 

the circuits. See United States v. Beldini, 443 Fed. Appx. 709, 716-17 (3d Cir. 

2011)(collecting cases). And the Eighth Circuit’s decision came before the 

Supreme Court’s decision in McDonnell. While the Gosses conceded that the 

Report (and this Court) is bound to follow the Eighth Circuit’s decision in 
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Zimmerman, to preserve further review, they incorporate their earlier 

arguments against it by reference. See Doc. 102 at 23-24. 

IV. The Report erroneously relies on a broad definition of the as-
opportunities-arise theory of bribery to find a quid pro quo in 
the honest-services wire-fraud counts. 
The Report erroneously concludes “that the conduct alleged in the 

indictment amounts to bribes, not gratuities.” (Doc. 195 at 13). The line 

between a bribe and gratuity is the quid pro quo: a bribe is given to cause an 

official to act; a gratuity rewards an official for an act already performed or 

decided. United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S. 398, 

405-05 (1999). The Report concludes the indictment alleged “an ongoing 

course of conduct, or stream of benefits,” where “the legislators” “were paid in 

exchange for official action . . . as opportunities arose.” (Doc. 195 at 14). The 

only Eighth Circuit authority the Report relies on for this proposition was 

United States v. Redzic, where the court held a quid pro quo only requires a 

payment “with the intent to influence a general course of conduct.” 627 F.3d 

683, 692 (8th Cir. 2010).  

This is the “retainer theory” of bribery. An official accepts the gift while 

hearing something like, “Someday, and that day may never come, I’ll call 

upon you to do a service for me.”6 That service goes undefined at the moment, 

 
6 THE GODFATHER (Paramount Pictures 1972). 
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but the official stands ready to provide it once it’s identified. In other words, 

the official is on retainer. 

The retainer theory did not survive McDonnell. Rather than treating 

the “quo” as a player-to-be-named-later in a baseball trade, the parties must 

agree on the specific issue to be influenced at the outset. As the Second 

Circuit held, while McDonnell does not require “identification of a particular 

act of influence,” it does require “identification of a particular question or 

matter to be influenced.” United States v. Silver, 948 F.3d 538, 552 (2020). In 

other words, the official must agree “to take official action on a particular 

question or matter as the opportunity to influence that same question or 

matter arises.” Id.  

The Sixth Circuit agrees, holding that the Supreme Court’s decision in 

McDonnell “did not invalidate all ‘as opportunities arise’ bribery ¾ only 

convictions for bribery schemes that are akin to payment for services yet to 

be determined.” United States v. Hills, 27 F.4th 1155, 1179 (6th Cir. 

2022)(citing United States v. Skelos, 988 F.3d 645, 655-56 (2d Cir. 2021). The 

Eleventh Circuit similarly holds that “McDonnell specified that the ‘question 

or matter’ to be influenced must be identified . . . .” United States v. Roberson, 

998 F.3d 1237, 1251 (11th Cir. 2021). The Second Circuit summed it up 

succinctly while finding an erroneous jury instruction: “the defendants could 

not be convicted of honest-services fraud unless they promised to undertake 
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official action on a specific question or matter as the opportunities arose.” 

United States v. Peroco, 13 F.4th 180, 190 (2d Cir. 2021).  

Because the Supreme Court’s decision in McDonnell undercut the 

broad retainer theory in Redzic, this Court is not bound to follow it. If an 

Eighth Circuit opinion has been “repudiated or undermined by later 

authority” like “an intervening Supreme Court decision[,]” then this Court 

should follow the Supreme Court’s decision. Dean v. Searcey, 893 F.3d 504, 

511 (8th Cir. 2018)(quoting Bryan A. Garner et al., The Law of Judicial 

Precedent 38 (West 2016)). Indeed, a district court may even go beyond an 

appellate mandate on remand “when the earlier panel decision is cast into 

doubt by a decision of the Supreme Court.” United States v. Steward, 598 

F.3d 960, 962 (8th Cir. 2010)(quoting United States v. Williams, 537 F.3d 

969, 975 (8th Cir. 2008)). And that has happened here.  

The Report relies on general allegations, untied to any specific question 

or matter, to find the necessary quid pro quo. It cites the claim that 

legislators Woods and Wilkins were given cash before the Nonprofit received 

any GIF grants. (Doc. 195 at 14). Yet the allegations it cites claim that these 

legislators were given that cash and other items in exchange for agreeing to 

use their “official position[s] to take legislative action to benefit Cranford, 

Cranford clients, and the [Nonprofit.]” (Doc. 65 at 44, 46).  

Case 6:19-cr-03048-BCW   Document 204   Filed 06/07/22   Page 25 of 28



26 
 

Yet “legislative action to benefit the Nonprofit” is the same type of 

open-ended version of the retainer theory that McDonnell put to rest. It is not 

enough to allege a legislator agreed to take beneficial action; the agreement 

must identify the precise “question or matter” that the legislator agreed to 

influence. Since this indictment lacks that necessary allegation, it fails to 

allege the quid pro quo necessary for honest-services wire fraud. 

CONCLUSION 

  The Court should reject the Report and dismiss the counts relying on 

GIF-grant allegations. First, the Report’s conclusion that federal-funds 

bribery requires only an entity’s “involvement” in a transaction broadens the 

statute wider than any other court has. Second, its conclusion that expressing 

support for a matter constitutes an “official act” runs headlong into the 

Supreme Court’s decision in McDonnell. Third, it relies on a broad retainer 

theory of bribery that the Supreme Court rejected in McDonnell, as several 

other circuits have acknowledged. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 6:19-cr-03048-BCW   Document 204   Filed 06/07/22   Page 26 of 28



27 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
RMP LLP 
/s/ Christopher D. Plumlee   
Christopher D. Plumlee 
Wendy L. Johnson 
Lisa M. Geary 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
5519 Hackett Road, Suite 300 
Springdale, Arkansas 72762 
479-443-2705  
cplumlee@rmp.law 
wjohnson@rmp.law 
lgeary@rmp.law 
 
Brian Malkmus, MO Bar 43952 
Malkmus Law Firm, LLC 
305 Park Central W. 
Springfield, MO 65806 
417-447-5000 
417-447-5001 (Fax) 
bmalkmus@malkmuslaw.com 
Attorneys for Tom Goss 

 
MORGAN PILATE LLC 
/s/ Branden A. Bell    
Melanie S. Morgan 
Branden A. Bell 
926 Cherry Street 
Kansas City, Missouri 64106 
816-471-6694  
mmorgan@morganpilate.com  
bbell@morganpilate.com 
Attorneys for Bontiea Goss 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Case 6:19-cr-03048-BCW   Document 204   Filed 06/07/22   Page 27 of 28



Page 28 of 28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I, Branden A. Bell, hereby certify that I electronically filed the 
foregoing with the Clerk of the Court on June 7, 2022 using the CM/ECF 
system which will send a notice of electronic filing and a copy of the filing to 
all counsel of record. 
 
       /s/ Branden A. Bell  
       Branden A. Bell 

Case 6:19-cr-03048-BCW   Document 204   Filed 06/07/22   Page 28 of 28


